

## Original Research Article

### Correlation of CT Scan Chest Severity score with Serum Ferritin In COVID-19 disease: A Retrospective Study

#### Abstract :

Background: COVID-19 disease is due to SARS-CoV-2 Virus with its rapid progression causing severe and fatal complications like Pneumonia. CT scan chest and inflammatory biomarkers like serum ferritin, helpful in screening, clinical management and prevention of serious complications of the Covid-19 disease are to be investigated and assessed.

Aims and Objectives: This study is aimed to assess the association between the CT Scan Chest severity score and the Serum Ferritin levels in COVID -19 disease in predicting clinical severity with categorization into different risk groups to identify patients at risk of fatal complications to ensure optimal resource allocation.

Materials and Methods: This retrospective observational study in a Govt. Medical college attached Tertiary care hospital for COVID -19 disease in Andhra Pradesh from 1st to 31st October 2020 included 76 patients of Covid-19 disease of > 20 years of age admitted with laboratory confirmed RT PCR diagnosis of Covid - 19 disease. Data was collected from the hospital records of the patients on demography, radiological imaging of CT scan chest severity score and laboratory measurements of Serum Ferritin levels and tabulated with the results expressed as mean  $\pm$  SD. The disease severity was classified as mild (1-8), moderate (9-15) and severe (16-25) based on CT scan chest Severity scoring. Then the association between CT scan chest severity score and serum ferritin levels was studied, assessed and correlated.

#### Results:

Study data of a total of 76 COVID -19 positive patients was analysed and summarized. 54 patients (71%) were Males and 22 patients (29 %) were Females. Mean age (Years) of the patients was  $52 \pm 13.2$  years with males and females as  $53.11 \pm 13.45$  and  $50.18 \pm 11.71$ , respectively. Based on the 25 point CT scan chest severity score, 50 % (38 patients) were in the mild grade (1 -8) with a mean  $\pm$ SD of  $4.74 \pm 2.44$ , 43.42% (33 patients) were in the moderate grade (9 - 15) with a mean  $\pm$ SD of  $11.31 \pm 2.06$  and 6.58% (5 patients) were in the severe grade (16 -25) with a mean  $\pm$ SD of  $18.4 \pm 3.29$ . The mean  $\pm$ SD values of Serum Ferritin were  $261.22 \pm 377.12$  ng/ml,  $431.14 \pm 284.69$  ng/ml and  $870.8 \pm 928.06$  ng/ml with mild, moderate and severe grade of CT chest severity score respectively. Statistically significant correlation was found between between the CT Chest Severity Score and Serum Ferritin levels.

#### Conclusion:

Serum ferritin levels were observed to be high in the CT scan chest positive group and so the serum ferritin levels measured at the time of admission predict radiological severity. This positive correlation between the CT Chest Severity Score and Serum Ferritin levels can predict clinical severity of Covid -19 disease with categorization into different risk groups helping in the clinical management, prevention of serious complications and disease outcome.

#### 1. Introduction:

**Comment [A1]:** The main idea of the article is to assess correlation between CT scores and Ferritin levels; however, this is not statistically supported. What defines this correlation and its strength?

**Comment [A2]:** I recommend rewriting this paragraph

**Comment [A3]:** I recommend splitting the sentence to make it more understandable

**Comment [A4]:** What defines this significance?

**Comment [A5]:** Typo

A novel infectious disease reported first in Wuhan, Hubei province, China in December 2019 and later found as coronavirus infection (2019-nCoV), which has spread rapidly all over the world was named as severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2). The World Health Organization (WHO) announced the disease name as Coronavirus disease-19 (COVID-19) and eventually declared it as global pandemic on 11 March 2020 with significant impacts upon the healthcare delivery systems [1-3].

SARS-CoV-2 virus spreads between people when an infected person is in close contact with another person [4, 5]. The incubation period (from the infection to the onset of first symptoms) is 2-14 days with a median of 5 days [6-8]. The COVID – 19 disease with its unpredictable clinical course can rapidly develop, causing severe and fatal complications. The COVID-19 disease clinical picture is broad spectrum with a wide range of symptoms and with asymptomatic carriers to severe pneumonia patients requiring ventilator support and ICU admissions with increased mortality [9-11].

The RT-PCR (Reverse transcription-polymerase chain reaction) test, a nucleic acid amplification test through molecular identification of SARS-Cov-2 with Nasopharyngeal swab samples is the Gold standard test for the diagnosis of COVID-19 disease [12,13] but, there are reports of significant small proportion of false negative tests [14].

A non-contrast high-resolution CT scan chest is an effective and essential method in COVID-19 disease in early diagnosis, disease course and management, especially in false-negative RT-PCR tests [15]. Studies of Li K. et al and Zhang H et al reported the lungs involvement in the CT scan chest images using both visual and software quantitative severity assessment of the CT scan chest images that determines the percentage of affected lung volumes in Covid-19 disease [16, 17]. The CT chest image findings help in the clinical evaluation of the COVID-19 disease severity with effective management [18-20]. In the studies of Guan W et al. and Guan W.J et al., Ground-Glass Opacity and Consolidation were the main CT chest findings in COVID-19 disease especially with the severity of the disease [21, 22]. Studies of Song F et al and Sun Q et al. reported that an increase in the extent of consolidation, present in the early and follow-up CT chest scans alert the clinicians in the management of COVID-19 patients [23, 24]. The study of Yuan et al. reported that there was a higher frequency of consolidation in patients died of the disease than in the survived [25].

Inflammatory Biomarkers commonly evaluated to assess severity of COVID–19 diseases are D–Dimer, serum ferritin, LDH, pro-calcitonin (PCT), C-reactive protein (CRP), interleukin-6 (IL-6), and interleukin-10 (IL-10) and are helpful in screening, categorization, clinical course, management, prognosis and prevention of serious complications of the disease due to its rapid progression [22, 26]. Studies of Qin C et al. and Xiao KH et al. reported that numerous inflammatory markers are elevated in COVID-19 disease with severe infection or in the intensive care unit relative to milder infection [27, 28].

Serum ferritin, a degradation product of haem is an inflammatory mediator of immune dysregulation causing cytokine storm in COVID –19 infections with fatal outcome and so those with elevated ferritin have high probability to develop serious complications. Studies of Xiong Y et al. and Salehi S et al. investigating the laboratory parameters of COVID-19 disease reported high Ferritin values [29, 30]. Studies of Feng Y et al., Zhou F et al. and Wu C et al. reported that serum ferritin levels were higher with severe COVID-19 than in a mild infection [31-33].

This study was aimed to investigate, assess and correlate the association between the CT Scan Chest severity score and Serum Ferritin levels in COVID-19 disease and then to predict the

clinical severity, to categorize the COVID-19 disease patients in the clinical management and prevention of serious complications and to identify patients at risk of fatal complications.

**Comment [A6]:** I recommend rewriting the sentence. How were the scores assessed?

## 2. Materials and Methods:

### 2.1 Study design

#### Study type:

This was a retrospective and observational study conducted in a Govt. Medical college attached Tertiary care hospital for the diagnosis and treatment of COVID-19 disease in Andhra Pradesh.

#### Study Data Collection:

Data was collected retrospectively from the hospital record of patients in terms of demography i.e. Age, Sex, CT Scan radiological imaging of Chest and laboratory measurements of serum ferritin.

#### Study Population:

The study subjects were a total of 76 patients admitted in the period from 1<sup>st</sup> to 31<sup>st</sup> October, 2020

#### Subjects Data Selection:

#### Inclusion criteria:

1. Age  $\geq$  20 years
2. Patients tested positive for Covid-19 disease by Reverse Transcription-Polymerase Chain Reaction (RT-PCR) tests with nasopharyngeal swab samples
3. Covid-19 positive patients who have undergone both CT scan of chest and Serum Ferritin level estimation

#### Exclusion criteria:

1. Age <20 years
2. COVID-19 positive patients who have not undergone CT scan chest and Serum Ferritin estimation
3. COVID-19 positive patients with co-morbidities like Diabetes. Hypertension etc.

Study was approved by the institutional ethical committee.

**Comment [A7]:** What about informed consent?

### 2.2 Research protocol

The study data taken at the time of admission into the hospital was collected from the hospital information system. The diagnosis of COVID-19 pneumonia was done in accordance with the clinical criteria. The CT scan chest images were evaluated using the Picture Archiving and Communication Systems (PACS).

In our study due to unavailability of the software, the CT scan Chest severity scores were calculated on the visual assessment of area involved in each lobe of the lung (3 on right and 2 on left). It was graded according to the percentage of each lobar involvement of 5 lobes with GGOs, consolidation, crazy paving on the basis of the area involved as: 0 (no involvement), 1 (<5% involvement), 2 (5–25% involvement), 3 (26–50% involvement), 4 (51–75% involvement) and 5 (>75% involvement). A score of 1-25 was used to evaluate the extent of inflammatory pulmonary lesions quantitatively for each of the five lung lobes and the total CT scan score of both lungs was equal to the sum of the scores of the five lobes, with a maximum total score of

**Comment [A8]:** Who calculated the scores?

**Comment [A9]:** I think you mean each lobe is given a score from 1-5 and total lung score is between 1-25?

25 points. The severity was further classified based on the total cumulative severity score. CT Scan Chest Severity score of 1 -25 was graded based on the extent of involvement of lung damage due to infection as, Mild (1-8), Moderate (9-15) and Severe (16-25) as cited in the study of Pan F et al [34].

Serum ferritin was estimated by fully automated biochemical analyser according to the instructions provided in the kit by the manufacturer. Normal range of Serum Ferritin is 20 - 250ng/ml provided in the kit by the manufacturer. Then correlation between CT chest severity score with serum ferritin levels was studied.

### 2.3 Statistical analysis:

A total of 76 patients > the age of 20 years with COVID-19 PCR-positive test admitted in the hospital during the month of October 1<sup>st</sup> to 31<sup>st</sup> 2020 were included in the study. Data of age, sex, presence of CT Scan Chest Score and laboratory test of serum ferritin level was collected and compiled in MS Excel. Data was summarized and analysed by using simple mathematical means. Data results were represented in terms of number (N), percentage (%) and mean  $\pm$  standard deviation.

**Comment [A10]:** How can you support the correlation statistically?

### 3. Results:

In the table 1), study group of 76 cases age was classified into 7 groups ;>20-30, >30-40, >40-50, >50-60, >60-70, >70-80, >80 yrs. The age range is of 24 - 86 years (males 24 – 86 yrs and females 26-72 years). The most common age groups were that between 60 - 70 yrs (21/76; 27.63%) with the males of 18/76 and females of 3/76) and 40-50 years (20/88; 26.32%) with the males of 13/76 and females of 7/76.

**Table-1): AGE Distribution of Cases**

Age (Years)	Males	Females	Total	Percentage
> 20-30	3	1	4	5.263
➤ 30-40	9	4	13	17.11
➤ 40-50	13	7	20	26.32
➤ 50-60	8	6	14	18.42
➤ 60-70	18	3	21	27.63
➤ 70-80	2	1	3	3.95
➤ 80-90	1	0	1	1.31
Total	54	22	76	100

In the Table 2), the study group of 76 cases are with 54 (71%) males and 22 (29%) females. The mean age of the study group was 52  $\pm$ 13.2 yrs (males 53.11 $\pm$ 13.45 yrs and females 50.18  $\pm$ 11.71 yrs). The mean CT Score of the study group was 8.58  $\pm$  4.66 (males 9.67  $\pm$  4.83 and females 6.46  $\pm$ 3.81). The mean serum ferritin of the study group was 380.08  $\pm$  417.91(males 448.16  $\pm$  393.16 and females 228.21  $\pm$  442.68)

**Table-2): Sex Wise Distribution of Mean  $\pm$  SD of Age, CT Score and Serum Ferritin**

Sex	No.	Percentage (%)	Mean Age (Years)	CT Score (No.)	Ferritin (ng/ml)
Males	54	71	53.11 $\pm$ 13.45	9.67 $\pm$ 4.83	448.16 $\pm$ 393.16
Females	22	29	50.18 $\pm$ 11.71	6.46 $\pm$ 3.81	228.21 $\pm$ 442.68
Total	76	100	52 $\pm$ 13.2	8.58 $\pm$ 4.66	380.08 $\pm$ 417.91

In the table 3), based on the 25 point CT scan chest severity score, CT severity score was with a mean  $\pm$ SD of 11.48  $\pm$ 2.59 of 76 patients with 50 % (38 patients) were in the mild grade (1 - 8) with a mean  $\pm$ SD of 4.74 $\pm$ 2.44, 43.42% (33 patients) were in the moderate grade (9 - 15) with

a mean  $\pm$ SD of  $11.31 \pm 2.06$  and 6.58% (5 patients) were in the severe grade (16 -25) with a mean  $\pm$ SD of  $18.4 \pm 3.29$ . The mean  $\pm$ SD values of Serum Ferritin were with a mean  $\pm$ SD of  $521.1 \pm 529.96$  of 76 patients with  $261.22 \pm 377.12$  ng/ml,  $431.14 \pm 284.69$  ng/ml and  $870.8 \pm 928.06$  ng/ml with mild, moderate and severe grade of CT chest severity score respectively.

**Table-3): Severity Wise Distribution of Mean  $\pm$  SD of Age, CT Score and Serum Ferritin**

Severity	No.	Percentage (%)	Mean Age (Years)	CT Score (No.)	Ferritin (ng/ml)
Mild	38	50.0	$51.74 \pm 13.02$	$4.74 \pm 2.44$	$261.22 \pm 377.12$
Moderate	33	43.42	$52.3 \pm 13.4$	$11.31 \pm 2.06$	$431.14 \pm 284.69$
Severe	5	6.58	$56.2 \pm 11.4$	$18.4 \pm 3.29$	$870.8 \pm 928.06$
Total	76	100	$53.42 \pm 12.61$	$11.48 \pm 2.59$	$521.1 \pm 529.96$

#### 4. Discussion:

The present study shows the association and correlation of the CT scan chest imaging and serum ferritin levels in the COVID-19 RT PCR test positive patients admitted to our tertiary level Govt. hospital with the aim to assess the clinical severity of Covid – 19 disease.

World Health Organization (WHO) declared COVID-19 outbreak as a public health emergency of international concern on 30 January 2020 and as pandemic on March 11, 2020, after the first report of Coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) in December 2019 in Wuhan, China [1,2]. The RT-PCR (Reverse transcription-polymerase chain reaction) test with nasopharyngeal swab is the standard test for the diagnosis of COVID-19 disease [35]. WHO advised CT scan chest imaging as a diagnostic test of COVID-19 disease whenever RT-PCR testing is not available, in delayed test results or in a clinical suspicion of COVID-19 with early negative RT-PCR test [36]. CT scan is useful in the assessment of the disease severity [37]. Similarly, Serum Ferritin, an inflammatory mediator of immune dysregulation is closely related to the disease severity [38].

In the present study, a total of 76 COVID-19 positive patients, who have undergone both CT Scan of Chest and Serum Ferritin estimation in the month of October 2020 were included. Visual assessment of each of the 5 lung lobes severities was used for classification as grades of mild (1– 8), moderate (9 -15) and severe (16 – 25) based on the total cumulative severity score. The main CT features in this study were Ground Glass Opacities, consolidation, crazy-paving pattern, and linear opacities, as in the study of Li K et al. [39].

Our study group of 76 cases was of 54 (71%) males and 22 (29%) females in the age range of 24 - 86 years (males 24 – 86 years and females 26-72 years) similar to the study of Gurung A et al [40], with age range from 19-89 years. The most common age groups were that between 60 - 70 years (21/76; 27.63%) with males of 18/76 and females of 3/76 and 40-50 years (20/88; 26.32%) with males of 13/76 and females of 7/76, similar to the study of Gurung A et al [40] in the age group of 50-59 years (25.8%).

Our study mean age was  $52 \pm 13.2$  years (males  $53.11 \pm 13.45$  years and females  $50.18 \pm 11.71$  years) similar to the studies of Gurung A et al [40] of 47.8 years and Tan C et al [41] of  $48.89 \pm 18.47$  years. Sex distribution of the study group of 76 patients showed CT Severity score of  $8.58 \pm 4.66$  (males  $9.67 \pm 4.83$  and females  $6.46 \pm 3.81$ ) and serum ferritin of  $380.08 \pm 417.91$  (males  $448.16 \pm 393.16$  and females  $228.21 \pm 442.68$ ).

**Comment [A11]:** In your discussion you are viewing the results again

**Comment [A12]:** In the discussion you are mainly comparing your results with other literature. It would be more valuable to analyse results and elaborate on pathophysiology and clinical significance of your results, for example.

When patients were divided according to the age (with a range of 24 -86 years), the extent of pulmonary involvement (severity scores) was significantly higher in patients with higher levels of ferritin. Age was not related to ferritin levels but males displayed significantly higher levels.

**Comment [A13]:** What defines this significance? Is it P-value? Or just from observation of results?

Our study CT severity score was  $11.48 \pm 2.59$  of 76 patients with, 50 % (38 patients) in the mild grade of 1-8 ( $4.74 \pm 2.44$ ), 43.42% (33 patients) in the moderate grade of 9 – 15 ( $11.31 \pm 2.06$ ) and 6.58% (5 patients) in the severe grade of 16 -25 ( $18.4 \pm 3.29$ ), similar to the study of Gurung A et al [40], Chest CT Scan severity score with 11-15 in 92 (48.3%) cases with maximum 24 (12.6%) cases with a score of 12.

Based on the 25 point CT scan chest severity score of our study group of 76 patients, mean  $\pm$ SD values were of CT score  $11.48 \pm 2.59$  and Serum Ferritin  $521.1 \pm 529.96$ . Serum Ferritin level was elevated in the studies of Gurung A et al [40], Banerjee D et al [42] and Guo W et al [43] study which is similar to our study findings.

Our study Serum Ferritin was  $521.1 \pm 529.96$  of 76 patients with  $261.22 \pm 377.12$  ng/ml,  $431.14 \pm 284.69$  ng/ml and  $870.8 \pm 928.06$  ng/ml with mild, moderate and severe grade of CT chest severity score respectively similar to the studies of Gurung A et al [40] and Canovi S et al [44] which showed elevated Ferritin levels correlating with the chest CT scan severity score. Our study showed CT severity score with increased serum ferritin levels was 50% of mild cases followed by 43.42% of moderate cases similar to the study of Gurung A et al [40], showing 46.4% cases followed by moderate cases 37.5%, and also to the study of by Kappert K et al [45].

Our study showed stronger and significant association of raised Serum Ferritin with severity of lung involvement (based on HRCT chest) of disease. The studies of Ghufraan Aref Saeed et al and Atkan Yilmaz et al [46, 47] observed high serum ferritin levels in the CT-positive group and have moderate positive correlation with CT severity. The study of Gupta et al [48] reported that the Severity of lung involvement according to HRCT chest findings was greater in patients with raised values of ferritin. This study results are similar to the studies of Ghufraan Aref Saeed et al, Atakan Yilmaz et al. and Prakhhar Gupta et al. [46, 47, 48], which reported positive correlation of CT scan chest severity score with serum ferritin levels.

**Comment [A14]:** Again, what defines this strength?

Our study and other studies suggested the positive correlation of serum ferritin level to the CT scan severity and so, with the clinical severity of the Covid-19 disease. Hence, the serum ferritin levels measured at the time of admission of the Covid-19 disease patients predict the severity of the Covid-19 disease radiologically and clinically. High serum ferritin levels in the CT scan chest positive group with a positive correlation with CT chest severity score indicate that serum ferritin level is related to the radiological severity and clinical severity of the COVID-19 disease.

**Comment [A15]:** There was no proper clinical assessment in this study. i.e., Symptoms, oxygen saturation, ...

Based on this significant association of inflammatory biomarkers with the severity of lung involvement, the assessment of levels of inflammatory biomarkers helps in categorization of patients into different risk groups following diagnosis, to ensure optimal resource allocation, especially in places where CT scan chest facilities are not readily available.

## 5. Conclusion:

The present study of CT scan chest severity score and Serum Ferritin values of the COVID-19 positive patients showed high serum ferritin levels in CT Scan Chest positive Covid-19 patients. High ferritin levels, a potential predictor of CT severity suggests the clinical severity of COVID-19 disease. As the clinical severity of COVID-19 disease have association with serum ferritin

levels, serum ferritin levels measured at the time of admission of the Covid-19 disease patients can predict radiological severity.

This study positive correlation between the CT chest severity score and Serum ferritin level in Covid-19 disease helps to screen and categorize the COVID-19 disease positive patients into different risk groups in the clinical management and prevention of serious complications. This has a pivotal role to assist physicians in the management plan as an indicator for disease severity and possible outcome especially when CT scan chest facilities are not available. However, more research is needed to further clarify the value of correlation of chest CT and serum ferritin levels in COVID-19 disease in patient outcome.

#### **6. Limitations:**

This study results have some limitations. First, the results are not generalized to all the patients in this region, as it is the only tertiary level Govt. hospital admitting Covid -19 positive patients. Second, the information about the patients who are asymptomatic and do not present to the hospital is not known. So, the study findings are confined to the patients diagnosed with Covid-19 positive disease. Finally, it is primarily a retrospective observational study conducted in a single centre with a small sample size. So, the studies of large sample sizes at multiple centres are needed to increase the accuracy of the findings for further evaluation of Covid-19 disease.

#### **9. References:**

- 1] World Health Organization. Coronavirus disease (COVID-19). <https://reliefweb.int/sites/reliefweb.int/files/resources/20200531-covid-19-sitrep-132.pdf> (accessed May 22, 2020).
- 2] WHO. Coronavirus disease (COVID - 19) outbreak. 2020. <https://www.who.int/emergencies/diseases/novel-coronavirus-2019>.(accessed Apr 30, 2020).
- 3]. Zhu N, Zhang D, Wang W, Li X, Yang B, Song J, et al. A novel coronavirus from patients with pneumonia in China, 2019. *N Engl J Med*.2020; 382 (8): 727-733. <https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa2001017>.
- 4]. Roadmap to improve and ensure good indoor ventilation in the context of COVID-19. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2021. (<https://apps.who.int/iris/rest/bitstreams/1333991/retrieve>, accessed 2 March 2021).
- 5]. Mask use in the context of COVID-19: interim guidance. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2020 (<https://apps.who.int/iris/rest/bitstreams/1319378/retrieve>, accessed 2 March 2021).
- 6] Tong ZD, Tang A, Li KF, Li P, Wang HL, Yi JP et al. Potential pre-symptomatic transmission of SARS-CoV-2, Zhejiang Province, China, 2020. *Emerg Infect Dis*. 2020; 26:1052-4.doi: 10.3201/eid2605.200198.
- 7] Wei WE, Li Z, Chiew CJ, Yong SE, Toh MP, Lee VJ. Presymptomatic transmission of SARS-CoV-2 -Singapore,January 23-March 16, 2020. *MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep*.2020; 69:411-5. doi: 10.15585/mmwr.mm6914e1.



- 8] Arons MM, Hatfield KM, Reddy SC, Kimball A, James A, Jacobs JR et al. Pre-symptomatic SARS-CoV-2 infections and transmission in a skilled nursing facility. *N Engl J Med*. 2020; 382:2081-90.doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa2008457.
- 9] Emedicine.medscape.com. Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19) Clinical Presentation: History, Physical Examination, Complications. <https://emedicine.medscape.com/article/2500114-clinical>.
- 10] Thomas-Rüddel D., Winning J., Dickmann P., et al. "Coronavirus disease 2019" (COVID-19): update für anästhesisten und intensivmediziner märz 2020. *Der Anaesthesist*. 2020; 69(4):p.225. doi: 10.1007/s00101-020-00758-x. - DOI - PubMed.
- 11] Huang C., Wang Y., Li X., Ren L., Zhao J., Hu Y. Clinical features of patients infected with 2019 novel coronavirus in Wuhan, China. *Lancet*. 2020;395:497–506.
- 12] Laboratory testing for coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID–19) in suspected human cases: interim guidance, 2 March 2020. 2020, World Health Organization. <https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/331329>.
- 13] Corman V. M., Landt O., Kaiser M., et al. Detection of 2019 novel coronavirus (2019-nCoV) by real-time RT-PCR. *Eurosurveillance*. 2020; 25(3).doi: 10.2807/15607917.ES.2020.25.3.2000045. - DOI - PMC - PubMed.
- 14] Bustin S. A., Nolan T. Pitfalls of quantitative real-time reverse-transcription polymerase chain reaction. *Journal of Biomolecular Techniques: JBT*. 2004; 15(3):155–166. <https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC2291693/> - PMC - PubMed.
- 15] Liu J., Yu H., Zhang S. The indispensable role of chest CT in the detection of coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19). *European Journal of Nuclear Medicine and Molecular Imaging*. 2020 Apr3:1–2. <https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC7118704/#CR2>, In press. - PMC - PubMed.
- 16] Li K., Fang Y., Li W., et al. CT image visual quantitative evaluation and clinical classification of coronavirus disease (COVID-19). *European Radiology*. 2020; 30(8):4407–4416. doi: 10.1007/s00330-020-06817-6. - DOI - PMC - PubMed.
- 17] Zhang H.-t., Zhang J.-s., Zhang H.-h., et al. Automated detection and quantification of COVID-19 pneumonia: CT imaging analysis by a deep learning-based software. *European Journal of Nuclear Medicine and Molecular Imaging*. 2020; 47(11):p. 2525. doi: 10.1007/s00259-020-04953-1. - DOI - PMC - PubMed. [19, 20].
- 18] Bernheim A., Mei X., Huang M., et al. Chest CT findings in Coronavirus disease-19 (COVID-19): Relationship to Duration of Infection. *Radiology*. 2020 Jun; 295(3):p.200463. doi: 10.1148/radiol.2020200463. - DOI - PMC - PubMed.



- 19] Chung M., Bernheim A., Mei X., Zhang N., Huang M., Zeng X. CT imaging features of 2019 novel coronavirus (2019-nCoV) *Radiology*.2020; 295:202–207.
- 20] Leonardi A., Scipione R., Alfieri G., et al. Role of computed tomography in predicting critical disease in patients with covid-19 pneumonia: a retrospective study using a semiautomatic quantitative method. *European Journal of Radiology*. 2020; 130:p.109202. doi: 10.1016/j.ejrad.2020.109202. - DOI - PMC - PubMed.
- 21] Guan W, Ni Z, Hu Y, Liang W, Ou C, He J, et al. Clinical characteristics of 2019 novel coronavirus infection in China. *MedRxiv*; 2020. [Accessed February 9, 2020]. Available at: <https://www.medrxiv.org/content/10.1101/2020.02.06.20020974v1>.
- 22] Guan W.J., Ni Z.Y., Hu Y., Liang W.H., Ou C.Q., He J.X, et al.. Clinical characteristics of coronavirus disease 2019 in China. *N Engl J Med*.2020; 382:1708–1720.
- 23] Song F, Shi N, Shan F, Zhang Z, Shen J, Lu H, et al. Emerging 2019 novel coronavirus (2019-nCoV) pneumonia. *Radiology*.2020; 295:210–217.
- 24] Sun Q, Xu X, Xie J, Li J, Huang X et al. Evolution of computed tomography manifestations in five patients who recovered from coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) pneumonia. *Korean J Radiol*. 2020 May 13. doi: 10.3348/kjr.2020.0157.
- 25] Yuan M, Yin W, Tao Z, Tan W, Hu Y. Association of radiologic findings with mortality of patients infected with 2019 novel coronavirus in Wuhan, China. *PLoS One*. 2020; 15: e0230548.
- 26] Ponti G, Maccaferri M, Cristel R, Tomasi A and Ozben T. Biomarkers associated with COVID -19 disease progression, *Critical Reviews in Clinical Laboratory Sciences*. 2020; 57(6):389-399.
- 27] Qin C, Zhou L, Hu Z, et al. Dysregulation of immune response in patients with COVID-19 in Wuhan, China. *Clin Infect Dis*.2020; ciaa 248.
- 28] Xiao KH, Shui LL, Pang XH, et al. Clinical features of coronavirus disease 2019 in Northeast area of Chongqing: analysis of 143 cases. *J Third Mil Med Univ* 2020; 42:549–54.
- 29] Xiong Y., Sun D., Liu Y., Fan Y., Zhao L., Li X et al. Clinical and high-resolution CT features of the COVID-19 infection: comparison of the initial and follow-up changes. *Invest Radiol*.2020; 55:332–339.
- 30] Salehi S., Abedi A., Balakrishnan S., Gholamrezanezhad A et al. Coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19): a systematic review of imaging findings in 919 patients. *AJR Am J Roentgenol*.2020; 215:87–93.
- 31] Feng Y., Ling Y., Bai T., Xie Y., Huang J., Li J. COVID-19 with different severities: a multicentre study of clinical features. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med*. 2020; 201:1380–1388.

- 32] Zhou F., Yu T., Du R., Fan G., Liu Y., Liu Z. Clinical course and risk factors for mortality of adult inpatients with COVID-19 in Wuhan, China: a retrospective cohort study. *Lancet*.2020; 395:1054–1062.
- 33] Wu C., Chen X., Cai Y., Xia J., Zhou X., Xu S. Risk factors associated with acute respiratory distress syndrome and death in patients with coronavirus disease 2019 pneumonia in Wuhan, China. *JAMA Intern Med*. 2020; 180:1–11.
- 34] Pan F, Ye T, Sun P, et al. Time Course of Lung Changes at Chest CT during Recovery from Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19). *Radiology* 2020; 295:715-21. doi: 10.1148/radiol.202000370. - DOI - PMC - PubMed.
- 35] World Health Organisation (WHO) Use of laboratory methods for SARS diagnosis.2020. <https://who.int/csr/sars/labmethods/en/>
- [36] .<https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/use-of-chest-imaging-in-covid-19>.
- 37] Francone M., lafrate F., Masci G. M., et al. Chest CT score in COVID-19 patients: correlation with disease severity and short-term prognosis. *European Radiology*.2020; 30(12):p. 6808. doi: 10.1007/s00330-020-07033-y. - DOI - PMC - PubMed.
- 38] <https://www.paho.org/journal/en/articles/ferritin-levels-and-covid-19>.
- 39] Li K, Wu J, Wu F, et al. The Clinical and Chest CT Features Associated with Severe and Critical COVID-19 Pneumonia. *Invest Radiol*.2020; 55:327-31. [Crossref] [PubMed].
- 40] Gurung A et al. Lab parameter and chest CT in COVID 19 *NJOG*. Jan-Jun. 2021;16(32):115-119
- 41] Tan C, Huang Y, Shi F, Tan K, Ma Q, Chen Y, et al C-reactive protein correlates with computed tomographic findings and predicts severe COVID-19 early. *J Med Virol*.n2020;92:856–62
- 42] Banerjee D, Popoola J, Shah S, Ster IC, Quan V, Phanish M. COVID-19 infection in kidney transplant recipients. *Kidney Int*. 2020;97(6):1076-82.doi:10.1016/j.kint.2020.03.018
- 43] Guo W, Li M, Dong Y, Zhou H, Zhang Z, Tian C, et al. Diabetes is a risk factor for the progression and prognosis of COVID-19. *Diabetes Metab Res Rev*.2020;e3319. doi: 10.1002/dmrr.3319 Epub ahead of print. PMID: 32233013; PMCID: PMC7228407
- 44] Canovi S, Besutti G, Bonelli E, Iotti V, Ottone M, AlbertazziL, et al. The association between clinical laboratory data and chest CT findings explains disease severity in a large Italian cohort of COVID-19 patients. *BMC Infect Dis*. 2021;21 (1):157. doi: 10.1186/s12879-021-05855-9 PMID: 33557778; PMCID: PMC7868898
- 45] Kappert K, Jahić A, Tauber R. Assessment of serum ferritin as a biomarker in COVID-19: bystander or participant? Insights by comparison with other infectious and non-infectious

diseases. Biomarkers. 2020;25(8):616-25. doi:10.1080/1354750X.2020.1797880 Epub 2020 Nov.24. PMID: 32700561.

46] Ghufraan Aref Saeed ,Waqar Gaba, Asad Shah, Abeer Ahmed Al Helali, Emadullah Raidullah, Ameirah Bader Al Ali, Mohammed Elghazali, Deena Yousef Ahmed, Shaikha Ghanam Al Kaabi, and Safaa Almazrouei. Correlation between Chest CT Severity Scores and the Clinical Parameters of Adult Patients with COVID -19 Pneumonia. Radiology Research and Practice. 2021 Jan 6; 2021:6697677.

47] Atakan Yilmaz, Ramazan Sabirli, Murat Seyit, Mert Ozen, Alten Oskay,Vefa Cakmak, Tarik Goren, and Ibrahim Turkcuur. Association between laboratory parameters and CT severity in patients infected with Covid-19: A retrospective, observational study. Am J Emerg Med. 2021 Apr; 42: 110–114.

48] Prakhar Gupta, Ankitkumar Halani ,Tasha Samuel, Devendra P Singh. Association of inflammatory biomarkers with radiological severity for COVID-19 patient risk stratification: An Indian perspective. Asian Journal of Medical Sciences | Apr 2021 | Vol. 12 | Issue 4 / pages 1-7

UNDER PEER REVIEW